Public Schools in Arlington District of
Alexandria County, Virginia

1870 - 1905
By C. B. RosE, Jr.

On July 11, 1870, the General Assembly of Virginia adopted a plan for
public schools in the Commonwealth. This implemented the directive of
the new Constitution of 1869 that the General Assembly was to “provide
by law, at its first session under this Constitution, a uniform system of
public free schools and for its gradual equal and full introduction into all
the counties of the State by the year 1876, and as much sooner as possible.”
The Constitution itself had made provision for a State Superintendent of
Public Instruction to be elected by the General Assembly, and for a State
Board of Education to consist of the Governor, the State Superintendent
of Public Instruction, and the Attorney General, with the power to appoint
County Superintendents of Schools.

Virginia had been moving in this direction ever since the first legislation
was enacted in 1796 to establish free schools on a highly permissive basis—
which was never used. The first State financial aid (for poor children only)
was voted in 1810; in 1829, the program was liberalized to permit State
funds to be used for school building construction. In 1846, legislation was
enacted which removed the restriction that free public education should be
limited to the poor, but its extension remained permissive, the citizens of
each locality being required to vote in its favor. Such an election was held
in Alexandria County (as Arlington was then known), in 1849 but the
results were not recorded. The “Minutes” of the governing body, the County
Court, however, show that in that year appointments were made to replace
certain School Commissioners who had resigned. The presumption, there-
fore, is that a rudimentary system of free education was then in existence
in the County.

Whatever the legislation on the books, the fact remains that during the
pre-war years, those who could afford it sent their children to private schools
or had them tutored at home. Many who could not, avoided the stigma ot
“poor” by not sending their children to school at all. The result was a high
rate of illiteracy in the Old Dominion. After the war, many who previously
could have afforded private schools could do so no longer; moreover, the
Negroes, formally barred from the schools, were in a position to take ad-
vantage of public facilities.

The 1870 legislation provided for the establishment of public free schools
under a three man Board of Trustees in each district, known at that time
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tion had been conducting a school. The trustees had invited the District
Board to see if satisfactory arrangements could be made whereby a public
school could be established at that place. The Board offered to pay $100
toward the salary of a teacher for five months if the trustees of the Colum-
bia School House would contribute a like sum and allow a public school to
be opened in their building. This matter was taken under advisement but
finally settled on January 11 when a counter offer which included $25
rent was accepted. (For the 1871-72 school term of five months the scarcity
of funds dictated a total rent of $20.)

On January 9th, the Board met at Freedmen’s Village but “there being
no preparation made for a meeting,” adjourned. On the 11th, the Board
met there again and this time the “Minutes” record “there seemed to be
quite an interest among the colored people, as there were quite a number
of the Parents and friends present, who seemed anxious for a Public School.”
The Board agreed to open a school, the “Union League Hall” being offered
for sale at $75. On January 16th, this is referred to as “Arlington School
House,” taking its name from the Custis-Lee Arlington estate on which
Freedmen’s Village was located. In subsequent meetings, the Board made
arrangements to purchase desks, benches, books, and fuel for the use of all
the schools.

Toward the end of January 1871, the public schools of Arlington District
of Alexandria County finally got underway. On January 25, James Doherty
was appointed teacher of Columbia School at a salary of $35 per month
and the school was opened for public use. On January 30th, James F.
Green was appointed teacher at “Balls X Roads” at a salary of $40, and
the school was ceremoniously declared opened. The Arlington School was
opened on February 1st with the appointment of Miss C. C. Anderson at
a salary of $40 a month, after “some very appropriate remarks were made
by Messrs. Adams and Wibirt.” At the meeting of the Board on February 9,
1871, it was directed that the Columbia School should be known as Num-
ber 1, Arlington School as Number 2, and “Walker” School as Number 3.
The Board had spent $179.79 on repairs to buildings and supplies to put
the various schools in readiness for use.

Meetings and Minutes

It is difficult to tell, especially from the early “Minutes,” just how often
and when the Board met. The table below gives the number of meetings
by years for which minutes are recorded. It seems obvious, from the content
of the minutes, that there must have been other occasions on which the
members of the Board made decisions on the operation of the schools.
Even in the later years, when more formal records were kept, they appar-
ently do not ““tell all.”

The site of the meetings varied. Usually they were held at one or another
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First Page of Minute Book of Arlington District School Board
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a son of Nicholas Febrey and Belinda Ball, and died in 1893. After his
service on the Board, he was County Superintendent of Schools.

On August 6, 1881, Dr. Louis E. Gott is mentioned as Chairman of the
Board. He was a well-known doctor of the area, born on August 29, 1898,
died October 29, 1916, who served during the Civil War in the Confederate
Army, and thereafter rendered outstanding service as a medical practitioner
in his community.

The minutes of November 2, 1882, mention Benjamin Austin as Chair-
man, a post he held until 1884; he continued to be a member of the Board
until sometime in 1886-87. He had been a member of the Commission to
lay off the road districts in 1875, a Justice of the Peace for Arlington Dis-
trict in 1875, and County Clerk from July 1, 1879, until June 29, 1886. The
same minutes of November 2, 1882, mentions W. C. Reeves as a member
of the Board. No other information about him is available and his name
does not appear again.

On September 13, 1884, Dr. [T. M.] Talbott is listed as a member of
the Board. He was a physician in Falls Church, the son-in-law of John
Febrey. His service lasted only until the end of the year, probably because
it interfered with a busy medical practice and insurance business. He did
not die until May 3, 1940.

On January 21, 1885, A. P. Douglas joined the Board and was elected
Chairman at his first meeting. He resigned on September 30, 1907, and
during almost this entire period was Chairman. Indeed, on one occasion
when the Board organized in his absence and Benjamin Austin was chosen
Chairman, he protested, declaring the action illegal because the Superin-
tendent of Schools had been in the chair during the election. Unfortunately
there is a gap in the “Minutes” at this point so they do not reveal whether
or not he carried his point. At any event, in 1888 he was again Chairman.
An indefatigable Board member, especially in the interest of the school at
Ballston, he could be counted upon to uphold the conservative side of any
issue.

William Barcroft was a member of the Board when a real estate trans-
action was recorded in 1890.6 On July 25, 1892, the members of the Board
were Douglas, Bailey, and J. E. Clements. The latter had been a teacher
at the Walker or Ballston School, and later became Superintendent of
Schools for the County. A year later, Clements was off the Board and his
place was taken by George W. Veitch who had been a Supervisor for
Arlington District from July 1, 1885, to June 30, 1887. Before that, in
1871, he had held the post of Superintendent of the Poor. Veitch served
for at least a year.

The minutes of August 8, 1899, record William Ball as a member of the

6 Arlington Deed Book L#%, page 61.
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monwealth’s Attorney from 1883 to at least 1891 and again in 1903. Indeed
at one time, he is referred to as “Acting Commonwealth’s Attorney” at
the same time that he was Superintendent of Schools. He had extensive
real estate interests in the County. Those who knew him recall him as a
colorful figure; he appears to have aroused controversy since in 1905 the
Arlington District School Board felt constrained to adopt a resolution
urging his reappointment, and a petition was circulated in the County to
the same effect.” The effort appears to have been in vain, however, since
Julian P. Baldwin was appointed Superintendent in 1905 and served for a
time but Clements returned in 1906 and served until 1909. Baldwin is
mentioned a number of times elsewhere in the “Minutes” as contracting
for carpentry or other construction work on the schools of Arlington
District.

School Buildings

Provision of proper plant is a perennial problem for school boards and
the case of the Arlington District School Board was no exception.
Columbia School Number 1

The only one of the original buildings which was not a makeshift was
the Columbia School which stood on half an acre of ground on Columbia
Pike at the corner of what is now South Wayne Street. It was rented from
a private school association until 1892 when the School Board purchased it
for $1,000. Toward the close of the century, the school population in that
area had increased so much that thought began to be given to a replace-
ment. On July 31, 1899, the Board appointed a Committee consisting of
Mr. Ball and the Superintendent to arrange for plans for a new school,
and on August 8 of that year authorized Eugene Bradbury to draw plans
and specifications. It was not until five years later, after much dissension
in the community and the unraveling of legal intricacies, that the Board
accepted a new building from the contractor.

The first steps seemed easy. The Board approved Bradbury’s employment
as architect on October 17, 1899, but decided to postpone construction until
Spring. On April 4, 1900, his plans were approved. Apparently the origi-
nal intention had been to rebuild on the same site. But the center of popu-
lation had moved further out the Pike, and doubt was cast on whether the
Board had a clear title to the Wayne Street property. A new site was
offered by CG. B. Munson on an exchange basis.

On May 14, 1900, an informal poll was taken of the citizens present at
the Board meeting; 22 voted in favor of rebuilding on the present site and
only 5 for another. Obviously discouraged, the Board adopted a motion on

7In 1909, however, the Arlington District School Board was urging the State
Board of Public Instruction to appoint as Superintendent “an efficient schoolman
trained to his work,” and Clements was replaced by William Hodges.
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The losers, however, took advantage of a provision in the State law
under which any five residents and heads of families in the District might
call for creation of an appeal board composed of the Superintendent of
Schools, and a member of the School Board from each of the other Dis-
tricts. The decision of such a “Special Appeal Board of Reference” was
final. The Board® met in January 1903, viewed the five sites proposed, held
hearings, and decided in favor of the Brown lot. An injunction was sought
in the Circuit Court which finally ruled that such a challenge had no legal
standing.

In May 1903, the Arlington District School Board requested estimates
on the cost of grading and draining the “Brown” lot, and advertised for
construction bids on the basis of Bradbury’s plans. Late in that month,
however, Harvey Bailey died. For some time Dr. C. B. Munson had urged
that a new competition for plans for the new building be held. This view
now prevailed and bids for plans were again asked for. They were to cover
a two story brick structure with slate roof and tower, with two rooms on
the first floor and a large hall above, two cloak rooms and arrangements
for heating by furnace. On August 3, 1903, meeting in Trustee Shelley’s
office in Washington, D. C., the Board accepted the plans of A. O. Von
Herbulis.!® He was asked to draw up specifications and advertise for con-
struction bids with a ceiling of $6,500. These were duly opened on
August 22; not only were all considerably higher than the stipulated maxi-
mum but the Board found itself in the embarrassing position of not having
a site on which to build, negotiations for the purchase of the Brown lot
still going on. Consideration of the bids was postponed.

Finally the legal underbrush was cleared away and on October 1, 1903,
the Board moved to pay for the Brown lot. This did not pass without a
last protest from Trustee A. P. Douglas who voted for the motion since
the matter had advanced so far, but who entered in the record a statement
explaining his opposition.** At this same meeting, the plans of Von Herbulis
as slightly modified to reduce the cost, were approved, and the contract in
the amount of $8,650 let to Augustus Davis, Jr.

All this time, of course, the school population of this area had been
growing. The teacher at Columbia School pled vainly for the appointment
of an assistant. The Board’s solution to the overcrowding and heavy teacher

9 W. N. Febrey was the School Board member from Washington District and
George E. Garrett from Jefferson.

16 That the completed building bore a marked resemblance to the new County
Court House, erected in 1898, was no accident. Von Herbulis, a resident of Falls
Church, was the architect for both projects.

11 He asserted, among other things, that drainage conditions were bad (an allega-
tion that was to prove only too true), the cost excessive, and the location next to the
trolley line dangerous for the children.
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of property belonging to Mrs. Cathcart. At the same time it selected a
plan for a frame building from “C. Thurston Chase’s work on school
houses” to accommodate not less than forty “Schollars.” A week later, the
Board reconsidered when it received an offer from Mrs. Donaldson to sell
part of her lot for $200.

Citizen pressure was brought to bear upon the Board. It was claimed
that seven-eighths of the pupils attending Walker School lived “north of
the Georgetown Road [Wilson Boulevard] and many of them being small
would be unable to attend the school on account of the increased distance”
if the Cathcart site were chosen. A map spotting the residences of the
pupils was shown. A citizen petition was presented urging great caution
in selecting a site, and one unnamed individual was quoted in opposition
because the Cathcart site was within 400 yards of his home. Mr. Syford
said he would not donate the cost of the Donaldson site but gave the Board
the choice of five others for any of which he would pay.

By the next day, two members of the Board (Bailey and Febrey) were
able to report that they had interviewed all the people residing near the
proposed sites and that none of them had made any objections. They had
also viewed the lot near the church and recommended its purchase as a
most desirable location. The gap in the “Minutes™ at this point makes it
impossible to pinpoint the moment of final decision from this source, but a
deed was recorded on April 27, 1877, transferring one acre from Elizabeth
Donaldson to the School Board for $150. This fronted on what is now
Wilson Boulevard at what is now North Randolph Street, and is shown on
the Map of 1878.

Fifteen years later, the School had outgrown its quarters and Superin-
tendent of Schools Clements was authorized on July 25, 1892, to procure
plans and specifications for enlarging Walker School. The minutes are
silent on whether or not this was done, but on June 1, 1893, it was decided
to sell the existing building and build a new one of brick with two rooms
and a hall. It was when the construction contract was let on July 27, 1893,
that this was first referred to as the “Ballston school house.” Henceforth
“Walker”#? drops out of the picture. The old building was sold at auction
on October 9, 1893. The Superintendent of Schools bought it for $214
and was given ten days in which to remove it. He seems to have been slow
to pay, however, since he did not settle with the Board until April 11, 1895.
In the meantime, the Board had had to pay George Mortimore $13.50 on
November 4, 1894, for removing the old building.

The location of the new building on the property must have been in a
different spot from the old for the Board met in the new school house before

12 There is nothing to show why “Walker” was chosen in the first place. Most of
the Walkers in the County lived in Washington District.
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the Board was asking for bids on changing the course of water running
through the grounds, “as it will in time so wash out as to endanger the
building.”

The next year, at the same time that it was undertaking to replace
Walker School with a brick building, the Board decided to build a new
two story brick structure for Kemper at a cost of $1,500. Originally only
the two lower rooms were used, but in 1903 the upper story was finished
off for classrooms.

Rosslyn Number 5

Many of the families displayed from Freedmen’s Village settled in Ross-
lyn, and by the Fall of 1888 the Arlington District School Board found it
necessary to establish a school in that area for colored children. Other than
that space was rented from the trustees of a church, and one notation in
1892 that the attention of those trustees had been called to the necessity of
having outbuildings put up at the church for the school, the record is bare
of details.

The Arlington Deed Book (L#* page 61) shows that on October 3, 1890, a
deed of trust was recorded to secure a note for $300 given by the Trustees
of the First Baptist Church in Rosslyn to the School Board. As part of the
terms of the deed, the Trustees agreed to apply rents received to the re-
payment of the note.

Glen carlyn Number 6

Since the Rosslyn School in effect replaced the abandoned Arlington
School, the first net addition to the number of schools in the Arlington
District after the establishment of Kemper, occurred in 1895 when, in
response to citizen requests, the Board agreed to open a school in Glen-
carlyn. It stipulated that it would pay the teacher $25 a month, she to
provide all that was necessary for running the school, and that it would
make no further contribution. As others before and after have found, “in
for a penny, in for a pound.” The very next month the Superintendent of
Schools appealed for a blackboard for the Glencarlyn School and the
Board grudgingly appropriated “not over $1.50” for that purpose. The
next year, the Board found itself paying $35 a month for a teacher and rent
besides, but attempted to hold down costs by setting the term for this school
at six months only. Of course, later, it “decided to see if there was enough
money to keep the school open the whole term,” and one can imagine that
in the face of citizen uproar the money was found somehow. In 1898, the
Board was paying not only for a teacher and $5 a month for rent, but for
three tons of coal to heat the rented room.

For some reason, the original quarters could not be used for the 1899-
1900 school year, and that willing horse Harvey Bailey was directed to find
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For the years 1891-93, E. 5. Stalcup was the teacher at Columbia. He
was succeeded by “Miss Nevitt” who became a subject of controversy in
1896 but nonetheless was reappointed by the Chairman (the other two
members of the Board dissenting) for one more year and reappointed in
1897, to be followed by H. L. Petty, her earlier rival for the post. (Miss
Nevitt was transferred to Glencarlyn). Mr. Petty had been teaching less
than a month when he demanded an assistant. The Board compromised
by raising his salary to $45 a month and authorizing him to have his
daughter. M. E. Petty, assist provided that she would also teach music and
“the junior branches.” In 1900, she became a full-fledged assistant with her
own salary but in 1901 no assistant was appointed for this school. Mr.
Petty left after the 1901-02 vear; it was probably at this time that he went
to Jefferson District to teach in the Hume School.

Miss M. E. Kidwell was the teacher at Columbia in 1902, and in 1903,
Miss M. F. Grigg was appointed. It was she who requested an assistant
and was turned down. The following vear. “Prof.” A. P. R. Works was
transferred to Columbia from Ballston: he had entered the system as the
teacher at Glencarlyn. At this time, there seems to have been a demand
from the patrons of the schools for male teachers, at least in the larger
institutions. Miss Grigg was made his assistant. It is not quite clear when
two assistants were first appointed for this school but in 1905 M. E. Petty
again appears on the pavroll as an assistant at Columbia in addition to ~
Miss Grigg. The 1905-06 budget called for three assistants.

Arlington School

The first teacher appointed here, Miss C. C. Anderson {elsewhere named
“Celinda D.”) served until some time in 1873. The teacher in 1881 was
Mr. G. W. Smith. On March 26, 1883, Henson Butler is referred to as
the assistant teacher at Arlington. For two vears (1883-85) R. M. Whiting
taught here to be followed by W. H. Jordan. During the final vears of this
school, Jacob J. Wright was the teacher.

Walker - Ballston School

James F. Green served only the first vear. His successor, Wm. R. Bushby,
held the post only one month, resigning October 23, 1871. His replacement
was Samuel A. Howard. Wm. F. Greenwell was the teacher at Walker in
1873, but parent dissatisfaction and low attendance encouraged acceptance
of his resignation on December 3 of that vear.

According to a later note, James E. Clements “took charge” of the
school in January 1874 and served until the completion of the 1880-81
school year. His successor was Miss Minnie Wibirt. On September 14,
1883, Florence M. Robertson was appointed. Her resignation is noted on
January 8, 1886, when I. H. Trumbull was appointed to take Her place.
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tainty just when Miss Hannah Moore began teaching in Arlington clouds
the date of Miss Jennie Nelson’s first appointment as teacher of Rosslyn
School.  On September 3, 1888, she was ‘“reappointed” and probably
served until Miss Ella Boston began her tenure in 1891. The latter remained
until she moved to Kemper School in 1904 when she was succeeded by
Mrs. Blanche L. Holmes. It was this Miss Boston for whom the present
Hoffman-Boston School was named in part.

Glencarlyn School

The first teacher here, the one who had to provide all necessaries for the
school from her salary of $25 a month, was Mrs. Eleanor Simms. The
following year, Miss C. R. Gurley was the teacher. She was succeeded by
Mrs. S. R. Maxwell who resigned part way through the school year. Her
immediate successor is not noted but on September 2, 1898, A. P. R. Works
became the teacher at Glencarlyn. When he moved to Ballston in 1899, his
place was taken by Miss Bettie Nevitt who would appear to be the “Miss
Nevitt” who had been displaced by Mr. Petty at Columbia School.

Miss Annie Gresham succeeded Miss Nevitt for the 1903-04 school vear.
When she moved on to Ballston and her disagreement with Prof. Rinker,
she was succeeded by Miss Florence Mountjoy.

Salaries and Appointment Dates

In the early days of the school system, appointments appear to have been *
made at the last possible moment before school opened. It 1s a wonder that
the School Board was able to secure teachers with any competence what-
soever under these circumstances, but probably this was general practice.
Later the appointment date was moved forward to sometime in August.
In 1901, for some reason, appointments were made as early as June 17.
Teachers were expected to appear en masse before the School Board to
sign their contracts.

Originally, according to State law, teacher salaries depended upon how
many pupils were enrolled in their schools. The stipends actually paid by
the Arlington District School Board were predetermined figures, however,
and do not seem to have varied with the enrollment. In the beginning, all
salaries were the same whether for men or women, for white or Negro
teachers. Gradually distinctions began to appear. “Prof.” Works was the
first whose demand for increased salary is recorded. Principals of the larger
schools (who happened to be men) began to get a higher salary than their
female colleagues. Although salaries seem incredibly low, even in the light
of the general level of earnings of the times, the trend was slightly upward
over the thirty-five years, even for the lowest paid. The Board appears to
have been not unsympathetic to requests for increases but was caught be-
tween the Scylla of need for capital improvements and the Charybdis of
inadequate funds.
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seems to have grown up, however, of paying them something for services in
supervising school construction. In 1885, Douglas and Bailey each received
$10 on this account, and in 1894, Bailey was granted $25 for overseeing
construction at Kemper, and Douglas $55 for the same service at Ballston.
In 1904, however, Trustee Shelley objected when Douglas asked for $2.00
a day for two day’s supervision at Ballston, along with reimbursement for
some brooms, dippers, and other supplies he had purchased for the school.
Douglas then testily withdrew his request saving that if he were not to be
paid for his services he would not accept reimbursement for his expenses.
At this time, apparently the Clerk to the Board was receiving a small stipend
allowed by law.

The ambitious school construction program begun in the 1890’s plunged
the Board into renewed financial difficulties. On March 5, 1894, there is a
hint that the funds of Arlington District were again overdrawn and “the
Chairman was instructed to see Mr. Clements [at that time Superintendent
of Schools] and try to borrow $1,000.” The next week a nine months’ loan
for $1,000 was negotiated with Burke and Herbert, bankers in Alexandria.
This does not seem to have gone far enough, however, since in December
of that year the Board paid for the plastering job on Ballston with warrants
payable 12 months from date. A month later, the Board was again dis-
cussing ways and means for raising money to pay bills then due, and the
County Treasurer {who was present at the meeting) was requested to see-
if the Board could borrow $500. In March, the Superintendent was au-
thorized to see if he could negotiate a 6% loan of from $1,000 to $1,500
for the purpose of completing Ballston. Indebtedness began to weigh heavily
on the Board which ordered the school term curtailed to eight months. In
April the Board was still trying to borrow money. The Superintendent was
instructed to get an opinion from the Attornev General on whether the
Board could borrow money to build and furnish school houses without the
money passing through the hands of the Treasurer. This does not neces-
sarily imply lack of confidence in that officer, but like all the other Con-
stitutional officers at that time, his compensation was from fees based on a
percentage of all funds passing through his hands. Loan proceeds thus
were not fully available for the purposes intended.

In 1899, the Board requested the Judge of the County Court to order an
election on the amount of the school levy, proposed at forty cents per $100
of assessed value to raise an estimated $3,000 needed for the next school
year. A ceiling on the levy was still set by State law, and this was the
maximum amount permitted. The School Board had to bear the cost of
the election. The levy appears to have been voted on favorably, and was
continued at that level for several years although in 1903 Trustee Douglas
opposed the proposed budget and moved a levy of thirty-five cents per $100.
By this time the levy was being set by the Countv Board of Supervisors and
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